## Shire of Kalamunda

# Special Council Meeting

Agenda for 29 August 2011





# NOTICE OF MEETING SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING

#### Councillors,

Notice is hereby given that a Special Meeting of Council will be held in the Council Chambers, Administration Centre, 2 Railway Road, Kalamunda on:

#### Monday 29 August 2011, commencing at 6.45pm.

For the benefit of members of the public, attention is drawn to the following requirements as adopted by Council.

#### <u>Open Council Meetings – Procedures</u>

- 1. All Council Meetings are open to the public.
- 2. All other arrangements are in accordance with Council's Standing Orders, Policies and decision of the Shire or Council.

X

James Trail

Chief Executive Officer

25 August 2011



## **INDEX**

2	OFFICIAL OPENING	1.0
2	ATTENDANCE, APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE PREVIOUSLY APPROVED	2.0
2	PUBLIC QUESTION TIME	3.0
2	DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS	4.0
2	REPORT TO COUNCIL	5.0
3	5.1 Local Government Rates and the Impact of Revaluations	
8	5.2 <u>CONFIDENTIAL ITEM</u> Zig Zag Cultural Centre – Proposal for Chamber of Commerce to Lease Office Space	
9	5.3 <u>CONFIDENTIAL ITEM</u> Deed of Agreement (Lot 9001 Kalamunda Road)	
10	CLOSURE	6.0

#### **AGENDA**

#### 1.0 OFFICIAL OPENING

## 2.0 ATTENDANCE, APOLOGIES AND LEAVE OF ABSENCE PREVIOUSLY APPROVED

#### 3.0 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

A period of not less than 15 minutes is provided to allow questions from the gallery on matters relating to the functions of this meeting. For the purposes of Minuting, these questions and answers are summarised.

#### 4.0 DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

#### 4.1 **Disclosure of Financial and Proximity Interests**

- a. Members must disclose the nature of their interest in matters to be discussed at the meeting. (Sections 5.60B and 5.65 of the *Local Government Act 1995.*)
- b. Employees must disclose the nature of their interest in reports or advice when giving the report or advice to the meeting. (Sections 5.70 and 5.71 of the *Local Government Act 1995*.)

#### 4.2 **Disclosure of Interest Affecting Impartiality**

a. Members and staff must disclose their interest in matters to be discussed at the meeting in respect of which the member or employee had given or will give advice.

#### 5.0 REPORT TO COUNCIL

Please Note: declaration of financial/conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

#### REPORT TO COUNCIL

Declaration of financial / conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

#### 5.1 Local Government Rates and the Impact of Revaluations

Previous Items N/A

Responsible Officer Director Corporate Services

Service Area Finance

File Reference

Applicant N/A Owner N/A

Attachment 1 Rating System – How it Works

#### **PURPOSE**

1. To provide Council with a brief overview of how the rating system operates in Western Australia and to highlight the impact of the recent revaluation that has occurred through the Shire of Kalamunda.

#### **BACKGROUND**

- Under the Local Government Act Section 6.26 prescribes that all land within a
  district is rateable land unless otherwise prescribed in that section. Therefore
  it is the Shire's duty to rate all properties in accordance with valuations and
  the Local Government Act.
- 3. Rates Charges for properties are calculated by the following formula: Valuation multiplied by rate-in-the-dollar.
- 4. The valuation for all land and property is determined independently by the Valuer General. The functions of the Valuer General are prescribed within the Valuation of Land Act 1978 and the Valuation of Land Regulations 1979.
- Property valuations are calculated using either an Unimproved Value (UV) or a Gross Rental Value (GRV).GRV refers to the gross annual rental that the land might reasonably be expected to earn if let on a tenancy from year to year. The GRV is determined triennially on the basis that the rental includes all outgoings, such as rates, taxes and insurance.
- 6. The rate-in-the-dollar is set by individual local governments and is determined by the level of annual budget deficit. This deficit is established by subtracting all other predicted revenue sources from the total expenses required to operate the local government in the budget year.

#### **DETAILS**

7. In 2010-2011 the Valuer Generals Office undertook a revaluation of all properties in the Shire of Kalamunda.

- 8. The impact of the recent revaluation has seen a significant shift in values across the foothill suburbs. This has resulted in a significant rate increase for properties in these suburbs. Properties in High Wycombe and Maida Vale experienced an average increase in GRV of 64%.
- 9. An increase or decrease in the Rates Charge for an individual property is linked directly to changes in the variables that comprise the formula from which the Rates Charge is calculated. Namely, the valuation and the rate-in-the-dollar.

Therefore, the Rates Charge for an individual property may increase (or decrease) if:

- the property has been valued by the Valuer General and has significantly increased (or decreased) from the previous valuation; and/or
- the local government has changed the rate-in-the-dollar due to an increased (or decreased) budget deficit.
- 10. It should be noted properties that have increased in value more than the average, or have decreased less than the average (if the market has experienced a downturn), will likely encounter an increase in their Rates Charge.

However, properties that have increased in value less than the average, or have decreased more than the average, will likely experience a decrease. Specifically, properties with a higher value will pay a greater proportion of the rates burden than properties with a lower value.

- 11. Increasing (or decreasing) property values therefore only allow for the redistribution of rates paid between individual properties some ratepayers will pay more and some will pay less.
- 12. In the Shire of Kalamunda, properties were subject to this triennial valuation in 2011/12. As a result, certain suburbs in the Shire were found to have significantly increased in value over the past 3 years, resulting, on average, in higher Rates Charges.

Notably, the suburbs of High Wycombe and Maida Vale were most affected

- 13. Local government annual budgets are established independently from property valuations and are pre-determined to meet expenditure requirements.
- 14. The rate-in-the-dollar is then ascertained by dividing the annual budget deficit by the sum total of all property valuations provided by the Valuer General.

- 15. A change in the rate-in-the-dollar can therefore occur if either the annual budget requirements change or the sum total of property valuations change (or both).
- 16. In the Shire of Kalamunda, the rate-in-the-dollar has decreased from 2010/11 to 2011/12 as a result of a significant increase in the sum total of property valuations.
- 17. As a result, those properties with proportionately high increases in value experienced, on average, an increased Rates Charge, and those properties with proportionately low increases in value experienced, on average, a decreased Rates Charge (or remained constant).
- 18. Property owners who are dissatisfied with the valuation of their property are able to formally lodge an objection to the Valuer General. Under the Valuation of Land Act 1978, objections can be made on the grounds that the valuation is unfair, unjust, inequitable or incorrect (whether by itself or in comparison with other valuations in force).
- 19. Further, if property owners are dissatisfied with the outcome from the Valuer General, the decision can be referred to the State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) for review.

#### STATUTORY AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

20. In Western Australia, the rating process is prescribed in Division 6 of the Local Government Act 1995 and the local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996.

#### **POLICY IMPLICATIONS**

21. Nil.

#### PUBLIC CONSULTATION/COMMUNICATION

22. Nil.

#### FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

23. Nil.

#### STRATEGIC AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS

#### **Strategic Planning Implications**

24. Nil.

#### **Sustainability Implications**

Social implications

25. Nil.

**Economic Implications** 

26. Nil.

**Environmental Implications** 

27. Nil.

#### OFFICER COMMENT

28. The Shire is not responsible for the rental values of properties; however, the Shire must use the rental value in order to levy its rates.

The revaluation has caused a redistribution of the rate burden across the Shire and whilst suburbs such as Maida Vale have had a significant impact there are many properties in other suburbs that have had minor increases or reduced rates applied because their values have not increased or in some instances decreased.

- 29. The rating system in Western Australia is complicated to understand but it is deemed to be the most equitable system available to the State and to Local Government because it is based on market driven economics through rental values. Any change to the methodology is a matter for State Political leaders. Over the years there have been many inquiries and studies into the rating systems across Australia, and to this day, after examining numerous models the GRV approach still outweighs other models because it is the cheapest and most equitable system to apply and administrate.
- A rating system is essentially a tax on land and the different rating methods available as outlined in the Attachment to this report reveal that philosophical notions of 'fairness' and 'equity' can be contentious and are frequently influenced by contradictory moral, ethical and political beliefs.

The philosophies underpinning these alternative methods of rating can be broadly grouped into three fairness and equity principles detailed below:

Benefit Principle:

The 'benefit' or 'user-pay principle' requires that ratepayers be charged in proportion to the benefit they receive from local government services, or the extent to which they make use of those services.

Ability-to-Pay Principle:

The 'ability-to-pay' or the 'capacity-to-pay principle' entails that ratepayers should be charged in proportion to their ability to afford local government services.

Equal-Distribution Principle:

The 'equal-distribution principle' requires that all ratepayers should be charged equally for local government services as they all have equal access to those services. These fairness and equity principles are realised to a greater or lesser extent in all methods of local government rating.

In the Shire of Kalamunda, Rates Charges are calculated primarily from property valuations, a method which embodies the ability-to pay principle. However, the benefit principle and the equal distribution principle are also utilised in forms of fees, such as the Pool Fence Inspection Fee (benefit) and the Refuse Charge (equal distribution).

All methods of local government rating strive to be fair and equitable, although the philosophies behind them can be widely divergent.

#### OFFICER RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- 1. Request the Chief Executive Officer to write to the State Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and Environment – Valuer General's Office raising its concerns on behalf of residents who were severely impacted by the recent revaluation in the suburbs of High Wycombe, Maida Vale and Forrestfield.
- 2. Request that a review of the current revaluation process be undertaken in order to provide a mechanism to lessen the impact upon ratepayers from severe fluctuations in rental property valuations.
- Refer the report and its recommendations to the next meeting of the Western 3.

	the Western Australian Local Government East Metropolitan Zone seeking their support to the Western Australian Local Government Association to take a lead role in the proposed review as resolved in Point 2 above.
Moved:	
Seconded:	
Vote:	



# Rating System – How it works

This paper provides a synopsis for Councillors to assist in understanding the rating system in Western Australia.



### Table of Contents:

1.0 Local Government Rating in Western Australia:	2
1.1 Valuation:	2
1.2 Rate-in-the-Dollar:	2
1.3 Minimum Payment:	4
1.4 Yearly Fees:	4
2.0 Factors Affecting Rates Charges:	5
2.1 Changes in Valuation:	5
2.2 Change in Rate-in-the-Dollar:	6
3.0 Comparison of Rates Charges across Local Governments in Western	
Australia:	8
4.0 Provisions Available for Low-Income Ratepayers:	12
4.1 Eligibility:	12
4.2 Levels of Wealth	13
5.0 Alternative Rating Methods:	15
5.1 Including Yearly Fees in the Rates Charge:	16
5.2 Rate-Capping	17
5.3 Two-Component Rating:	19
5.4 Charging a Flat-Rate:	20
5.5 Conducting Annual Property Valuations:	21
5.6 Using the Unimproved Value as the Basis for Property Valuations:	23
5.7 Using the Capital Improved Value as the Basis for Property Valuations:	24
5.8 Phasing-in Property Valuations:	25
6.0 Conclusion:	27
7.0 References	28
7.1 WA Legislation Referred to in this Report:	29

# 1.0 Local Government Rating in Western Australia:

In Western Australia, the rating process is prescribed in Division 6 of the Local Government Act 1995 and the local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996. Rates Charges for properties are calculated by the following formula:

#### **VALUATION x RATE-IN-THE-DOLLAR**

#### 1.1 Valuation:

The valuation for all land and property is determined independently by the Valuer General. The functions of the Valuer General are prescribed within the Valuation of Land Act 1978 and the Valuation of Land Regulations 1979. Property valuations are calculated using either an Unimproved Value (UV) or a Gross Rental Value (GRV).

The UV is generally used only in rural and fringe urban areas and is calculated annually. It is determined on the basis that the land contains no improvements and is established by reference to the land market at the date of valuation.

Alternatively, the GRV refers to the gross annual rental that the land might reasonably be expected to earn if let on a tenancy from year to year. The GRV is determined triennially on the basis that the rental includes all outgoings, such as rates, taxes and insurance.

For example, if a property is reasonably expected to raise \$300.00 per week, the GRV is calculated at \$15,600.00, (ie: \$300.00 x 52 weeks).

In cases where the annual rental cannot be reasonably determined, the GRV is the 'assessed value'. The 'assessed value' is a set percentage of capital value, (currently fixed by regulation at 5%). For example, vacant residential land, for which no rental value can be determined, is currently valued on the basis of 5% of its total capital value.

Under Section 6.28(2) of the Local Government Act 1995, local governments in Western Australia are required to use the UV for land that is used predominantly for rural purposes, and GRV for land that is used predominately for non-rural purposes. With respect to UV's, the values are determined annually and the whole of the State is constituted as a single valuation district.

For land situated within a townsite the UV is the site value of the land. In general this means the value of the land except merged improvements. Merged improvements relate to improvements such as clearing, draining and filling.

The UV of land outside a townsite is valued as if it had no improvements. In this case the land is valued as though it remains in its original, natural state, although any land degradation is taken into account.

If the UV cannot reasonably be determined on this basis, it is calculated as a percentage of the value of the land as if it had been developed to a fair district standard but not including buildings. This percentage is prescribed (where it applies) by the Valuer General from year to year and is currently 30%.

In the Shire of Kalamunda, the UV is used as the basis for valuing 310 properties, and the GRV is used as the basis of valuations for all other properties. This reflects the largely developed status of the Shire.

#### 1.2 Rate-in-the-Dollar:

The **rate-in-the-dollar** is set by individual local governments and is determined by the level of annual **budget deficit**. This deficit is established by subtracting all other predicted revenue sources from the total expenses required to operate the local government in the budget year.

This is formulated for example, if the total predicted revenue, (such as revenue from yearly fees, grants, subsidies, contributions), is \$1,000,000.00, and the total expenditure, (such as salary, materials, contracts and ugh the Rate Setting Statement, capital expenses), is \$5,000,000.00, then the budget deficit will be \$4,000,000.00.

The rate-in-the-dollar is then established by dividing the budget deficit by the sum total of all property valuations provided by the Valuer General.

For example, if property valuations for a local government total \$40,000,000.00, and the budget deficit is \$4,000,000.00, then the rate-in-the-dollar will be \$0.10, (ie: \$4,000,000.00  $\div$  \$40,000,000.00). Therefore, a property that has a GRV of \$15,600.000, (ie: the property is reasonably expected to raise \$300.00 rent per week), will receive a Rates Charge of \$1,560.00, (ie: \$15,600.00 x \$0.10).

#### Example of the Process for Setting a Budget and a rate in the Dollar for Small Shire

Step 1 – Calculate the Budget Deficit from Year to Year

In 2011 Small Shire required a total \$6,786 to operate as shown in the following table:

Small Shire Budget - 2011						
Rates Income Required		\$ 6,786				
Expenditure						
Salaries	\$	2,100.00				
Materials	\$	1,000.00				
Contracts	\$	2,986.00				
Equipment	\$	700.00				
<b>Budget Deficit</b>	\$	6,786.00				

In 2012 Small Shire needed an additional \$754 to operate and hence approve a net yield 10% rate increase for that year. Therefore the budget deficit for 2012 is \$7,540 a shown in the table below.

Small Shire Budget - 2012						
Rates Income Required	\$	7,540.00				
Expenditure						
Salaries	\$	2,500.00				
Materials	\$	1,200.00				
Contracts	\$	3,100.00				
Equipment	\$	740.00				
Budget Deficit	\$	7,540.00				

In order to raise the budget deficit needed through the rates the Shire has to calculate a rate in the dollar to divide against each of its rateable properties. As shown below.

Step 2:- Strike a rate in the dollar that will deliver the Budget Deficit in rates income.

All Properties in Small Shire	GRV	Rate in Dollar	R	ates Levied
Property 1	\$ 15,400.00	0.1	\$	1,540.00
Property 2	\$ 10,000.00	0.1	\$	1,000.00
Property 3	\$ 20,000.00	0.1	\$	2,000.00
Property 4	\$ 18,000.00	0.1	\$	1,800.00
Property 5	\$ 12,000.00	0.1	\$	1,200.00
Totals	\$ 75,400.00	0.1	\$	7,540.00

The above example above shows the relationship between the calculating the Annual Budget and the use of GRV and the rate In the Dollar to calculate the budget deficit needed for a Shire to operate.

#### **Types of Rating Charges - Uniform or Differentials**

Section 6.32(1) of the Local Government Act 1995 requires that local governments in Western Australia chose to rate either 'uniformly' or 'differentially'. A uniform rate-in the-dollar is one that is applied to all ratepayers equally, whereas a differential rate in-the-dollar is applied at a different level according to certain categories. Under Section 6.33(1), rating can be differentiated by:

- the purpose for which the land is zoned under the Local Planning Scheme;
- the predominant purpose for which the land is held or used, (as determined by the local government);
- and/or whether or not the land is vacant land.

In the Perth Metropolitan Area, the majority of local governments use a system of differential rating. Uniform rating however, is currently utilised by the Cities of Bassendean, Canning and Stirling, and the Towns of Cambridge, Claremont and Mosman Park.

In the Shire of Kalamunda, rating is currently applied differentially. The differential rate in-the-dollar is levied on all rateable land within the Shire according to the predominant purpose for which that land is being held or used, and whether or not the land has any improvements.

Specifically, properties are categorised as either: 'General', covering all properties used for singular and multi-dwellings; 'Commercial', covering all properties used for business and commercial purposes; or 'Industrial', covering all properties engaged in light industrial and manufacturing activities.

Properties are then further categorised as either 'Improved' or 'Vacant'.

The following table shows the rate in the dollar used to calculate rates for 2011/2012

Rate Type	Cents in the Dollar
General - Gross Rental Values (GRV)	5.0665
Commercial – GRV	5.3198
Industrial – GRV	5.6744
General - Unimproved Values (UV)	0.2411
Commercial – UV	0.2532
Industrial -UV	0.2701

The shire of Kalamunda has relatively low UV's for commercial and industrial. Many Council will used the UV rate to stimulate development by having high rates which in turn encourages owners to develop the land.

#### 1.3 Minimum Payment:

A minimum payment can be set by local governments in accordance with Section 6.35 of the Local Government Act 1995.

A minimum payment is invoked to ensure that all ratepayers contribute a base amount for the provision of services and facilities.

Hence, for properties where the calculated Rates Charge totalled less than the Minimum payment (ie: valuation x rate-in-the-dollar < \$Minimum Payment), the minimum payment will be applied.

For example a small 1 bedroom apartment in a low value suburb may attract a GRV that will return a rate less than the minimum yet that ratepayers will consume as many services as other residents living in the Shire. The Minimum rate therefore fundamentally shares the rate burden more equitably across all ratepayers.

In the Shire of Kalamunda, the minimum payments being applied for 2011/2012 are set as follows:-

\$
648
680
727
648
680
727

There are 1,500 properties being charged a minimum rate in the Shire of Kalamunda.

#### 1.4 Yearly Fees:

Yearly fees are additional to the Rates Charge. In the Shire of Kalamunda, yearly fees are included in all individual Rate Notices, and can include:

#### Emergency Services Levy (ESL):

This levy is a State-imposed charge which is collected by the Shire on behalf of the Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia (FESA). The ESL funds all career and volunteer fire brigades, volunteer

There are State Emergency Service (SES) units and volunteer emergency service units throughout the State. All property owners in Western Australia pay a levy that is proportional to the level of emergency services available to them. Suburbs in the Perth Metropolitan Area are generally classified under ESL Category 1, (having access to 22 career Fire and Rescue Service stations and the SES).

For 2011/2012, all properties in the Shire of Kalamunda were categorised under ESL Category 1, 3 and 5. The charges are being applied and charge through the Rate notice to all ratepayers.

#### Pool Fence Inspection Fee:

This fee is charged to all property owners with swimming pools to cover the costs associated with inspecting the pool's barrier fence.

Under Section 245A of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960, the Shire is required to inspect swimming pools at least once every 4 years to ensure that the statutory requirements for swimming pool fencing are complied with, (as per Section 38B of the Building Regulations 1989).

The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960 allows for local governments to charge a standard fee to meet some of the estimated costs of carrying out this inspection.

The Shire of Kalamunda inspects swimming pool fences every 4 years and charges a quarter of the costs to pool owners each year.

For 2011/2012, the (annual) Pool Fence Inspection Fee was charged at \$18.30. This represents a 4 per cent increase from 2010/2011 which covers cost increase for salaries, vehicles and materials to deliver pool inspection services.

#### Refuse Charge:

This charge is levied to property owners to cover the costs associated with the weekly emptying of the 240L green bin, the fortnightly recycling bin service, and the bulk verge collection.

Under Sections 105 and 106 of the Health Act 1911, local governments are required to supply residential properties with an appropriate receptacle for the disposal of rubbish and can levy owners for the removal of the refuse.

In the Shire of Kalamunda, properties are supplied with one 240L green bin, and one recycling bin and are charged for any additional bins.

#### In 2011/2012 the refuse charges were:

Service		Fee
Ordinary domestic ncluding kerbside recyc	collection/disposal service ling service	\$340.00.
	a concession rate for the isposal service including	\$170.00.

#### Specified Area Rate:

This rate-in-the-dollar is imposed on property owners in a specified area for the purpose of meeting the cost of work, services or facilities provided only to that area. Under Section 6.37 of the Local Government Act 1995, Specified Area Rates can only be used for the purpose for which they are collected.

Should any amount in a given year not be spent, the balance must be transferred to a Reserve for future years or be refunded to ratepayers, upon request. In the Shire of Kalamunda there are no special area rates.

## 2.0 Factors Affecting Rates Charges:

An increase or decrease in the Rates Charge for an individual property is linked directly to changes in the variables that comprise the formula from which the Rates Charge is calculated.

#### Namely, the valuation and the rate-in-the-dollar

Therefore, the Rates Charge for an individual property may increase (or decrease) if:

- the property has been valued by the Valuer General and has significantly increased (or decreased) from the previous valuation; and/or
- the local government has changed the rate-in-the-dollar due to an increased (or decreased) budget deficit.

#### 2.1 Changes in Valuation:

In general, property values in the Perth Metropolitan Area closely follow market fluctuations and triennial property valuations reflect this.

Over a three-year period, there are generally areas that rise in value significantly more than others. This can be due to various factors, such as improved infrastructure, improved transport networks, gentrification, improved landscaping, and/or the establishment of new housing developments.

It should be noted properties that have increased in value more than the average, or have decreased less than the average (if the market has experienced a downturn), will likely encounter an increase in their Rates Charge.

However, properties that have increased in value less than the average, or have decreased more than the average, will likely experience a decrease. Specifically, properties with a higher value will pay a greater proportion of the rates burden than properties with a lower value.

Increasing (or decreasing) property values therefore only allow for the redistribution of rates paid between individual properties – some ratepayers will pay more and some will pay less.

In the Shire of Kalamunda, properties were subject to this triennial valuation in 2011/12. As a result, certain suburbs in the Shire were found to have significantly increased in value over the past 3 years, resulting, on average, in higher Rates Charges.

Notably, the suburbs of High Wycombe and Maida Vale were most affected.

The chart below shows the average percentage increase in GRV property values after the triennial re-valuation for each suburb in the Shire of Kalamunda.

	OLD GROSS GRV	NEW GROSS GRV	AVG % INC
BICKLEY	\$ 2,298,564	\$ 3,627,532	58%
CANNING MILLS	\$ 9,568	\$ 15,340	60%
CARMEL	\$ 2,161,393	\$ 3,241,387	50%
FORRESTFIELD	\$ 83,932,736	\$ 108,097,827	29%
GOOSEBERRY HILL	\$ 18,727,349	\$ 26,401,399	41%
HACKETTS GULLY	\$ 81,224	\$ 131,872	62%
HIGH WYCOMBE	\$ 52,229,318	\$ 85,514,854	64%
KALAMUNDA	\$ 41,639,267	\$ 57,372,514	38%
KEWDALE	\$ 4,601,748	\$ 5,432,334	18%
LESMURDIE	\$ 34,489,783	\$ 49,817,620	44%
MAIDA VALE	\$ 20,854,813	\$ 33,945,950	63%
PAULLS VALLEY	\$ 359,136	\$ 524,430	46%
PICKERING BROOK	\$ 1,534,742	\$ 2,125,426	38%
PIESSE BROOK	\$ 737,470	\$ 1,200,600	63%
WALLISTON	\$ 5,238,567	\$ 6,291,694	20%
WATTLE GROVE	\$20,814,007	\$ 31,063,238	49%

The following table provides an example of an average property in Forrestfield and the impact of the revaluation upon its rate.

Year		2009-10	2010-11	ir	creases	7	2011-12	in	creases
Valuation	\$	14,040.00	\$ 14,040.00		\$ 23,920.00				
****	NAME OF TAXABLE PARTY.								****
Rates	\$	912.46	\$ 980.83	-\$	68.37	\$	1,211.91	-\$	231.08
FESA	\$	172.69	\$ 203.58	-\$	30.89	\$	272.69	-\$	69.11
Bins	\$	276.90	\$ 311.60	-\$	34.70	\$	340.00	-\$	28.40
	\$	1,362.05	\$ 1,496.01	-\$	133.96	\$	1,824.60	-\$	328.59

#### Modelling the Impact of a Revaluation

To demonstrate the impact of a revaluation the following example is using Small Shire.

In 2011/12 Small Shire Rate Book contained the following Valuations.

All Properties in Small Shire	GRV	Rate in Dollar	R	ates Levied
Property 1	\$ 15,400.00	0.1	\$	1,540.00
Property 2	\$ 10,000.00	0.1	\$	1,000.00
Property 3	\$ 20,000.00	0.1	\$	2,000.00
Property 4	\$ 18,000.00	0.1	\$	1,800.00
Property 5	\$ 12,000.00	0.1	\$	1,200.00
Totals	\$ 75,400.00	0.1	\$	7,540.00

During 2011/12 the VGO revalued all the properties in the Small Shire and the new GRVs were set as follows and to be implemented on 1 July 2012:

All Properties in Small Shire	GRV
Property 1	\$ 20,400.00
Property 2	\$ 11,000.00
Property 3	\$ 26,000.00
Property 4	\$ 23,000.00
Property 5	\$ 13.500.00
Totals	\$ 75,400.00

In July 2012 Council adopted its budget for 2012/13 with a 7% net yield Increase to cover the cost of Salary Increases thus determining the Budget Deficit to be \$8,068 as shown in the following table.

Small Shire Budget - 2013			
Rates Income Required	\$8,068.00		
Expenditure			
Salaries	\$3,028.00		
Materials	\$1,200.00		
Contracts	\$3,100.00		
Equipment	\$740.00		
Budget Deficit	\$8,068.00		

In order for Council to levy the Budget Deficit amount of \$8,068 required to operate in that year Small Shire was required to lower its rate in the dollar given the increase in overall GRV for the Shire.

As shown in the table following.

All Properties in Small Shire	New GRV	Rate in Dollar	New Rates Levied
Property 1	\$20,400.00	0.08592	\$1,752.77
Property 2	\$11,000.00	0.08592	\$945.12
Property 3	\$26,000.00	0.08592	\$2,233.92
Property 4	\$23,000.00	0.08592	\$1,976.16
Property 5	\$13,500.00	0.08592	\$1,159.92
Totals	\$93,900.00		\$8,067.89

When comparing the changes in rates levied from a previous year to a revalued year, there is a redistribution of the rate burden across the Shire – which is based upon the new values.

In the case of Small Shire Properties 1, 3 and 4 they are now carrying a greater rate burden than Property 2 and 5; who are going to enjoy a reduction in their rate.

All Properties in Small Shire	New GRV	Rate in Dollar	New Rates Levied	vious year's ates Levied	Increase /decreases
Property 1	\$20,400.00	0.08592	\$1,752.77	\$ 1,540.00	\$212.77
Property 2	\$11,000.00	0.08592	\$945.12	\$ 1,000.00	-\$54.88
Property 3	\$26,000.00	0.08592	\$2,233.92	\$ 2,000.00	\$233.92
Property 4	\$23,000.00	0.08592	\$1,976.16	\$ 1,800.00	\$176.16
Property 5	\$13,500.00	0.08592	\$1,159.92	\$ 1,200.00	-\$40.08
Totals	\$93,900.00		\$8,067.89	\$ 7,540.00	\$527.89

#### What Can Done if property owners don't agree with their valuations?

Property owners who are dissatisfied with the valuation of their property are able to formally lodge an objection to the Valuer General. Under the Valuation of Land Act 1978, objections can be made on the grounds that the valuation is unfair, unjust, inequitable or incorrect (whether by itself or in comparison with other valuations in force).

Further, if property owners are dissatisfied with the outcome from the Valuer General, the decision can be referred to the State Administrative Tribunal (SAT) for review.

#### 2.2 Changes in Rate-in-the-Dollar:

As previously indicated local government annual budgets are established independently from property valuations and are pre-determined to meet expenditure requirements. The rate-in-the-dollar is then ascertained by dividing the annual budget deficit by the sum total of all property valuations provided by the Valuer General. A change in the rate-in-the-dollar can therefore occur if either the annual budget requirements change or the sum total of property valuations change (or both).

In the Shire of Kalamunda, the rate-in-the-dollar has decreased from 2010/11 to 2011/12 as a result of a significant increase in the sum total of property valuations.

As a result, those properties with proportionately high increases in value experienced, on average, an increased Rates Charge, and those properties with proportionately low increases in value experienced, on average, a decreased Rates Charge (or remained constant).

The chart below shows that the Shire's rate-in-the-dollar for the past two years has not increased in a linear fashion, in fact as a result of the revaluations the rate in dollar a has decreased significantly.

Rate Type	2011/12	2010/11
General - Gross Rental Values (GRV)	5.0665	6.986
Commercial – GRV	5.3198	7.335
Industrial – GRV	5.6744	7.685
General - Unimproved Values (UV)	0.2411	0.2583
Commercial – UV	0.2532	0.2712
Industrial -UV	0.2701	0.2841

Had the Shire of Kalamunda retained the same rate in the dollar that is used in formulating its 2010-2011 Budget and applied those rates in the dollar to the revaluation that occurred; then the Shire's rate revenue in 2011-2012 would have increased by \$9million dollars and that increase would have been shared out across all rateable properties depending on their GRV.

Hence the rates in the Shire of Kalamunda would have increased three fold on what has occurred when the rate in the dollar is not adjusted and total valuation has increased.

# 3.0 Comparison of Rates Charges across Local Governments in Western Australia:

The Rates Charges of individual local governments depend fundamentally upon the level of services they provide. Local governments around Western Australia review programs and services annually to reconcile them both with community expectations and available sources of revenue.

Different local governments across Western Australia charge rates at different levels depending upon a variety of factors. Some of these factors include:

#### • Alternative sources of revenue:

The total rates revenue to be raised by a local government is determined by their annual budget deficit and is based upon the services they provide. On average, metropolitan local governments in Western Australia raise approximately half of their total revenue through Rates Charges. If a greater level of revenue can be raised through alternative sources, less revenue is required to be raised through Rates Charges. Local governments with substantial alternative sources of revenue, such as income from parking, landfill services, boating facilities, or sporting or recreational facilities, can often rate at a lower level, as the remaining revenue required is a lesser amount.

#### Purpose for which land is used:

Using a differential rating system, non-residential properties are often charged at a much higher rate than residential properties, due to their greater capacity to yield income and the specialised services such areas require. Consequently, local governments with proportionately large industrial or commercial zones under differential rating, often have much lower residential Rates Charges than local governments that are mostly residential.

#### • Number of properties:

The number of properties within a local government can greatly impact upon the level of revenue it requires. For example, local governments with low average density, (ie: large block sizes), will have less properties and hence the rate burden will be spread across a lesser number of ratepayers. Conversely, local governments with high average density, (ie: small block sizes or apartment blocks), will be able to spread the rate burden across a greater number of ratepayers. As populations are not distributed equally over different local government areas, the level of services required and the contribution individual ratepayers are required to make, can differ greatly.

#### Population demographics:

The population demographics of a local government can greatly impact upon the types of services that the local government provides, and hence upon average Rates Charges. The provision of community and social services varies significantly from one local government to the next, depending upon the expectations of the community and the various demographic population requirements. Groups such as Seniors, Pensioners, children, refugees and immigrants, are stereotypically very high users of a diverse range of local government services. Further, groups such as Seniors, Pensioners and children, are frequently low, or negligible contributors to the revenue of local government.

#### New development:

Local government areas that contain new property developments often require a much higher level of services than more established areas. In particular, local governments with recent, large-scale developments will often experience rapid population growth and require additional infrastructure and services. Compared to local governments in older or more established areas, those with new developments will often need to charge a higher level of rates in order to yield a higher level of revenue to cover these additional services and infrastructure projects.

#### 4.0 Provisions Available for Low-Income Ratepayers:

Under the current system, Seniors and Pensioners in Western Australia are eligible for significant deductions in their Rates Charges under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992.

#### 4.1 Eligibility:

Property owners holding either a Western Australian Seniors Card (SC), a Commonwealth Seniors Health Card (CSHS), a Pensioner Concession Card (PCC) or a State Concession Card (SCC) are entitled to either a rebate on, or a deferment of their local government Rates Charges, annual water service charges and Emergency Services Levy, (nb: the rebate cannot be applied to the Pool Fence Inspection Fee or Refuse Charge).

A rebate of either 25% or 50% can be obtained (see below), provided the ratepayer makes payment of their portion of the Rates Charge by 30 June of that financial year. A deferment option is also available where the deferred charges remain as a debt on the property. The deferred charges are not required to be paid until the entitlement to defer ceases or the property is disposed. These charges are interest-free and can be paid at any time, but a concession cannot be applied in addition to the deferment.

The following concessions are available to cardholders in Western Australia:

- WA Seniors Card (SC):
  - Entitled to receive up to a 25% rebate on local government Rates Charges, annual water service charges and the Emergency Services Levy; o rebate is limited to a maximum amount; and deferment option is not available.
- WA Seniors Card (SC) and Commonwealth Seniors Health Card (CSHC):

- Entitled to receive up to a 50% rebate on local government Rates Charges, annual water service charges and the Emergency Services Levy; and may be entitled to defer charges.
- Pensioner Concession Card (PCC) or State Concession Card (SCC):
   Entitled to receive up to a 50% rebate on local government Rates Charges, annual water service charges and the Emergency Services Levy; may be entitled to defer charges; and entitled to receive a rebate on water usage charges (a capped maximum amount applies each year).

In the Shire of Kalamunda, there are currently 5544 ratepayers claiming either the Senior or Pensioner rebate/deferment (18.3% of all residential properties).

#### 4.2 Levels of Wealth

A ratepayer's level of wealth has significant implications on their ability to pay Rates Charges. According to the 2006 ABS Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (SEIFA Index), the Shire is ranked in the lower mid range for metropolitan Local Governments.

The following table shows where Kalamunda is placed with the SEIFA Index.

#### SEIFA index of disadvantage

Local Government Areas in the Perth Statistical Division(ranked from greatest to least disadvantaged)	2006 SEIFA index of disadvantage
Kwinana (T)	958.1
Belmont (C)	964.7
Armadale (C)	985.8
Bassendean (T)	987.1
Fremantle (C)	997.6
Victoria Park (T)	1002.4
Gosnells (C)	1003.5
Swan (C)	1004.4
Bayswater (C)	1010.2
Rockingham (C)	1014.2
Cockburn (C)	1019.0
Wanneroo (C)	1019.4
Stirling (C)	1020.4
Canning (C)	1037.6
Perth (C)	1045.9
Kalamunda (S)	1047.9
Serpentine-Jarrahdale (S)	1048.2
Vincent (T)	1049.7
Mundaring (S)	1051.8
Mosman Park (T)	1059.5
South Perth (C)	1065.5
Subiaco (C)	1074.6
Melville (C)	1080.0
East Fremantle (T)	1081.2
Joondalup (C)	1085.6
Claremont (T)	1090.4
Nedlands (C)	1118.5
Cambridge (T)	1119.0
Cottesloe (T)	1125.5
Peppermint Grove (S)	1139

#### 5.0 Alternative Rating Methods:

This section of the report examines the principles behind rating methods as well as the advantages and disadvantages of a range of alternative methods of rating to the one currently legislated under the Local Government Act 1995. Each method aims to address the issues of fairness and equity in distributing the rate burden across the ratepayer population.

A rating system is essentially a tax on land and the different rating methods examined in this section reveal a number of opposing views. These methods reveal that philosophical notions of 'fairness' and 'equity' can be contentious and are frequently influenced by contradictory moral, ethical and political beliefs. The philosophies underpinning these alternative methods of rating can be broadly grouped into three fairness and equity principles detailed below:

#### Benefit Principle:

The 'benefit' or 'user-pay principle' requires that ratepayers be charged in proportion to the benefit they receive from local government services, or the extent to which they make use of those services.

#### Ability-to-Pay Principle:

The 'ability-to-pay' or the 'capacity-to-pay principle' entails that ratepayers should be charged in proportion to their ability to afford local government services.

#### • Equal-Distribution Principle:

The 'equal-distribution principle' requires that all ratepayers should be charged equally for local government services as they all have equal access to those services. These fairness and equity principles are realised to a greater or lesser extent in all methods of local government rating. In the Shire of Kalamunda, Rates Charges are calculated primarily from property valuations, a method which embodies the ability-to pay principle. However, the benefit principle and the equal distribution principle are also utilised in forms of fees, such as the Pool Fence Inspection Fee (benefit) and the Refuse Charge (equal distribution).

All methods of local government rating strive to be fair and equitable, although the philosophies behind them can be widely divergent. The following options have been provided, so that the current method of rating used by the Shire of Kalamunda may be critically considered and compared.

#### 5.1 Including Yearly Fees in the Rates Charge:

Currently in the Shire of Kalamunda, yearly fees, such as the Refuse Charge and the Pool Fence Inspection Fee, are charged separately from the Rates Charge. A rebate or a deferment is available for Seniors and Pensioners under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992. However, this rebate or deferment can only be applied to the local government Rates Charge, annual water service charges and the Emergency Services Levy. Other yearly fees, including the Refuse Charge must be paid in full.

Within the constraints of the existing legislation it is possible to include one or more of these fees in the Rates Charge. In particular, the Refuse Charge, (which is levied to all property owners), could be included. The inclusion of the refuse/waste collection fee in the Rates Charge is currently in place in several Metropolitan local governments including the City of Wanneroo, Towns of Claremont, Cottesloe, East Fremantle, Mosman Park, Victoria Park, Vincent and the Shire of Peppermint Grove.

#### Advantages:

- Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), would be charged significantly less on their Rate Notice (or would be able to defer a larger portion).
- Including yearly fees in the Rates Charge continues to utilise the current system of property
  valuations based on the GRV. The GRV is derived from the income that could be raised if the
  property were offered for lease and therefore has some relation to the ability of the
  ratepayer to pay.
- Scope already exists for this system of rating within current Western Australian legislation and it would not be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted.

#### Disadvantages:

- The rebate or deferment that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners would only be
  available to holders of a Commonwealth Seniors Health Card (CSHS), a Pensioner Concession
  Card (PCC) or a State Concession Card (SCC). Any discount would not benefit any low- or
  singleincome households who are not eligible for such a concession.
- This system of rating continues to utilise the current system of property valuations based on the GRV. Such valuations can potentially experience significant triennial increases which could have a considerable financial impact on low-income ratepayers (particularly those who do not hold a concession card). The GRV also only takes into account the ability of the ratepayer to pay in relation to their capaShire to produce an income off the property. It does not take into account other forms of wealth (such as salary or wage income).
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more). Ultimately, decision in relation to this method of rating is a philosophical one. For many local government services, such as the provision of roads, it is impossible to charge ratepayers directly for their usage. For services such as refuse collection however, it is possible as each ratepayer is charged for a service that is carried out in an identical manner. If the Shire were to include the Refuse Charge in the Rates Charge, properties with different valuations would be charged at different levels for exactly the same waste collection service.

#### 5.2 Rate-Capping

The term 'rate-capping' or 'rate-pegging' refers to the imposition of a ceiling or allowable limit on a percentage rate increase from year to year. A cap can be applied either to a local government's budgeted revenue or to the levied rate-in-the-dollar itself. Presuming the cap is low, rate-capping can be effective in protecting ratepayers from significant increases in their Rates Charges.

In Australia, rate-capping is only imposed upon local governments in New South Wales, where it has been in use since 1977. The New South Wales Government enforces a percentage limit by which all

local governments may increase their total income derived from Rates Charges. The rate-capping percentage is set each year by the Minister for Local Government.

A similar system exists in Queensland, where local governments can choose to cap the levied Rates Charges by a stated percentage. Queensland differs from New South Wales however, in that the limit is not imposed upon Councils by the State Government, enabling Queensland local governments to retain greater autonomy in their financial decision-making. Within the constraints of existing legislation, the Shire of Kalamunda could self-impose a rate-capping limit, similar to local governments in Queensland. However, if the Shire aspired to a system similar to that in New South Wales, some amendment to existing legislation would need to be sought.

#### Advantages:

State-Imposed (eg: NSW):

Under a rate-capping system, ratepayers would be protected from significant increases in Rates Charges that result from triennial property valuations (presuming the rate-cap were low). Under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992, the rebate or deferment that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), could still be applied to this method of rating.

This method of rating continues to utilise the current system of property valuations based on the GRV. The GRV is derived from the income that could be raised if the property were offered for lease and therefore has some relation to the ability of the ratepayer to pay.

Self-Imposed (eg: QLD):

As above

Scope already exists within current Western Australian legislation for the self-imposition of a rate-cap and it would not be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted.

#### Disadvantages:

State-Imposed (eg: NSW):

A rate-capping system administered by the State Government could severely diminish the autonomy of local government, particularly in financial decision-making.

A blanket rate-capping limit imposed by State Government would not take into account regional variations in price movements, (such as between metropolitan and rural areas).

A rate-capping limit imposed upon local governments could be vulnerable to the political expedience of State Government.

Under a State-imposed rate-capping system, the overall income from Rates Charges could be considerably lower and could severely restrict a local government's purchasing decisions. In particular, if the initial (precap) rating level is not high enough when the rate-cap is imposed,

then the Shire could struggle to adequately provide services and infrastructure to residents if the population continued to grow, (or if the population changed significantly in composition).

In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).

A State-imposed rate-capping system does not currently exist within Western Australian legislation and it would be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted.

Self-Imposed (eg: QLD):

A self-imposed rate-capping limit would be set by the Shire and not by a third-party. As such, it would be largely meaningless as it would likely be based upon the Shire's proposed Annual Budget.

In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).

Rate-capping would not alter the underlying method of rating which is based on GRV property valuations. As such, it does not represent a significant philosophical break from the current method of rating used in Western Australia. Notwithstanding, the potential implications of rate-capping are far-reaching and could represent considerable loss of decision-making autonomy for local government. It should be noted that rate-capping is considered to be an extremely limiting method of rating, with local governments in New South Wales having been actively calling for its abolition for several years.

#### 5.3 Two-Component Rating:

This method of rating includes two components, a flat charge and a variable charge. The flat charge is paid by all ratepayers, (regardless of the value their property), and ensures that everyone who has access to Council facilities and services contributes equally to their cost. The variable charge is usually based on the property valuation and is charged either uniformly or differentially. Local governments that choose to apply two-component rating often consider issues of equity and fairness. Hence, the variable charge is frequently based upon the extent to which ratepayers receive the benefit of Council services and/or the extent to which they have the ability to pay for those services. A number of States and Territories in Australia currently have the capacity to implement a form of two-component rating, including New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia and the Northern Territory. In Western Australia, the Local Government Act 1995 does not provide for the implementation of two-component rating. If the Shire wished to proceed with such a rating system, some amendment to existing legislation would need to be sought.

#### Advantages:

 Under a two-component rating system, all ratepayers would contribute equally via a flatrate charge for Council facilities and services that they have equal access to, regardless of the value of their land.

- The financial impact of Rates Charges on low-users of Council facilities and services could be lessened if the 'benefit' principle were applied.
- The financial impact of Rates Charges on low-income ratepayers could be lessened if the 'ability-to-pay' principle were applied.

#### Disadvantages:

- Determining the extent to which a ratepayer receives the benefits of Council services and
  the extent to which they have the ability to pay for those services could be difficult to assess
  (and possibly contentious) as these principles are often not mutually exclusive, (ie: a
  ratepayer may be a high user of Council services, but have a little ability to pay for those
  services, or a ratepayer may be a low-user, but have a substantial ability to pay).
- This method of rating would be more expensive to implement and administer than the current system, a cost which would likely be passed on to ratepayers.
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).
- Scope to apply this system of rating does not exist within current Western Australian legislation and it would be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted. As an alternative method of rating, the two-component system has the potential to provide some relief to ratepayers who have either a low-income or are low-users of local government services. Difficulties could easily arise however, in establishing the levels to which these principles should be applied in determining Rates Charges. In Western Australia, use of a flat charge exists in the form of the Refuse Charge and Pool Fence Inspection Fee as well as for other services, such as fees for leisure services and building hire. The minimum payment can also be considered a type of flat charge, as all ratepayers are obligated to make this minimum contribution, regardless of the value of their property. Few local government services however, are provided in the same manner and it is likely that a two-component system would have the effect of redistributing the rate burden from properties of high value to those of low value.

#### 5.4 Charging a Flat-Rate:

A flat-rate charge is similar to one element of two-component rating in that it recognises that all ratepayers should contribute equally towards the Council facilities and services that they have equal access to. This form of rating however, does not support either the 'ability-to-pay' principle or the 'benefit' principle, with all ratepayers being charged a universal flat-rate. In Australia, this system of rating is only allowable in the Northern Territory in Community Government Councils' (non-metropolitan areas). These Councils can charge either a flat 'per parcel' rate to all properties, or differentially within 'zones' (eg: Residential, Commercial, Industrial etc.). Within the constraints of existing Western Australian legislation it is not possible to charge a flat-rate to property owners. If the Shire wished to proceed with such a method of rating, some amendment to existing legislation would need to be sought.

#### Advantages:

- Ratepayers in areas of high property values, could pay substantially less if a flat-rate system of rating were implemented.
- A flat-rate charge would be simpler for ratepayers to understand.

- This method of rating would be less complicated for the Shire to administer than the current system, as property valuations would not need to be performed.
- Under a flat-rate system of rating, any increases in Rates Charges would be shared equally, as all ratepayers would be charged at the same level.
- Under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992, the rebate or deferment that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), could still be applied to this method of rating.

#### Disadvantages:

- Ratepayers in areas of low property values, could pay substantially more if a flat-rate system of rating were implemented.
- A flat-rate system of rating does not take into account the extent to which a ratepayer receives the benefit of Council services, nor their ability to pay for such services, (eg: the owner of a small, suburban apartment would pay the same as the owner of a large, oceanfront house).
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).
- Scope to apply this system of rating does not exist within current Western Australian legislation and it would be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted. Charging a flat-rate to all ratepayers signifies a complete shift in philosophy. In order to implement such a vastly different method of local government rating, considerable changes would need to be made to State legislation.

#### 5.5 Conducting Annual Property Valuations:

The frequency of property valuations could have a significant impact on Rates Charges, especially in areas where property values are rising (or falling) by a considerable amount. In Western Australia, the GRV, used mainly in metropolitan regions, is evaluated triennially, and the UV, used mainly in rural regions, is evaluated annually.

The income to be derived from Rates Charges is determined by a local government's annual budget and remains the same, regardless of property valuations. Hence, properties that have increased proportionately more over the 3 year period since the last valuation will carry a significantly larger portion of the rate burden than in the preceding year. If property valuations were to be carried out annually, instead of triennially, significant rises in Rates Charges would occur to a much lesser extent.

The impact of increases therefore would be lessened, as Rates Charges would increase in smaller, yearly increments, instead of remaining the same for 3 years and then potentially increasing by a large amount.

Across Australia, differences in valuation methods have resulted in a variety of valuation time-frames. In South Australia, property values are ascertained every 5 years, in the Northern Territory, every 3 years, in Tasmania, every 7 years, in Victoria every 1-2 years, and in New South Wales, Queensland and the Australian Capital Territory, every year. Under Section 25 of the Western Australian Valuation of Land Act 1978, local governments can request supplementary valuations

within the triennial period. However, this would invoke a significant charge to the Shire which would likely be passed on to ratepayers. If the Shire wished to proceed with yearly valuations as standard, it is likely that some amendment to existing legislation would need to be sought.

#### Advantages:

- Valuing properties annually could lessen the impact of significant increases in Rates Charges, as property valuations in areas of increasing value would increase in smaller, yearly increments
- Ratepayers in areas of decreasing property values, or areas where property values have increased the least, could pay substantially less over a 3 year period if their proportion of the rate burden decreased annually (instead of triennially).
- Under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992, the rebate or deferment
  that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), could
  still be applied to this method of rating.
- Valuing properties annually continues to utilise the current system of property valuations based on the GRV. The GRV is derived from the income that could be raised if the property were offered for lease and therefore has some relation to the ability of the ratepayer to pay.

#### Disadvantages:

- Ratepayers in areas of increasing property values, or areas where property values have increased the most, could pay substantially more over a 3 year period if their proportion of the rate burden increased annually (instead of triennially).
- Valuing properties annually continues to utilise the current system of property valuations
  based on the GRV which only takes into account the ability of the ratepayer to pay in
  relation to their capacity to produce an income off the property. It does not take into
  account other forms of wealth (such as salary or wage income).
- This method of rating would be more expensive to implement and administer than the current method, a cost which would likely be passed on to ratepayers.
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).
- Scope to apply this system of rating only partially exists within current Western Australian legislation and it would be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted.

As an alternative to the current method of rating, conducting property valuations annually (instead of triennially) does not represent a dramatic shift in philosophy as the basis for valuing properties (GRV), remains the same. For re-valuations in 2010/11, the Shire of Kalamunda was charged over 90,000.00 in triennial valuing fees. If the Shire were to proceed with yearly valuations, the increased costs, (ie:  $90,000.00 \times 3$ ), would likely be passed onto ratepayers possibly mitigating any potential benefits.

#### 5.6 Using the Unimproved Value as the Basis for Property Valuations:

As discussed previously, the UV refers to the site value of the land as if it were vacant with no improvements. The UV of a property is determined by reference to the land market at the date of valuation. In Western Australia, the UV is generally only used in rural and fringe urban areas where the value of land in its 'natural state' can be easily determined. The UV of a property is based on the value of the vacant, unimproved site itself and hence is directly related to a property's inherent potential.

Several States and Territories in Australia use the UV as the basis for determining property values, including Queensland, New South Wales, and the Australian Capital Territory. Other States in Australia, including South Australia, Victoria, Northern Territory and Western Australia have the (limited) capacity to utilise UVs, although most use them only in non-metropolitan areas. Within the constraints of existing Western Australian legislation, it would not be possible to use the UV for valuing land that is used predominantly for non-rural purposes without the approval of the relevant Minister. If the Shire wished to proceed with using the UV as the basis for all property valuations, it is almost certain that some amendment to existing legislation would need to be sought.

#### Advantages:

- Ratepayers who own small or strata blocks could pay substantially less if property valuations were based on the UV.
- Using the UV as the basis for property valuations could encourage property owners to improve their property, (particularly if it is vacant), as improvements would not necessarily increase the property's value for the purposes of rating.
- The UV of a property would be relatively simple to establish in areas that are rapidly changing from rural to urban, or areas where recent land sales provide evidence of vacant, unimproved land.
- Under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992, the rebate or deferment that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), could still be applied to this method of rating.

#### Disadvantages:

- The UV is only loosely associated with a ratepayer's ability to pay. It does not take into account the capacity of the ratepayer to produce a revenue off the property, or any other form of wealth (such as salary or wage income).
- UVs are calculated annually, which would be more expensive to administer than the current system, a cost which would likely be passed on to ratepayers.
- UVs could be difficult to determine in areas that are older and more built up, or areas where there is no sales evidence of vacant, unimproved land.
- Property valuations based on UVs could be difficult for ratepayers to interpret, and could result in a higher level of disputes and objections.
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).

 Scope to apply this system of rating only partially exists within current Western Australian legislation and it would be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be protracted.

As an alternative method of rating, using the UV as the basis for property valuations is not considered a practicable method for the Shire of Kalamunda. Being a highly developed region, the UV would not appropriately reflect the nature of the land.

Furthermore, the Shire contains very few examples of recent land sales of vacant, unimproved land, and as such, it would be extremely difficult for the Valuer General to provide meaningful property valuations.

#### 5.7 Using the Capital Improved Value as the Basis for Property Valuations:

The Capital Improved Value (CIV) of a property refers to the expected sum of money that might be realised if the land and any existing dwelling or improvements were offered for sale at a particular time. Conducting property valuations using the CIV can provide for more equitable valuations as it fully reflects the capital value of improvements relative to the market. Using a CIV base can reduce the 'compression effect' that is often associated with using GRVs. This effect is caused by the rental market having a market ceiling, which frequently results in properties with much higher capital value being valued at the same level as properties with a much lower capital value.

The CIV is used as the basis for property valuations in several states across Australia, including South Australia, Victoria, Tasmania and the Northern Territory. Current legislation in Western Australia does not provide for the use of CIVs. However, at the 2008 Annual General Meeting of the Western Australian Local Government Association (WALGA), a motion by the Shire of Gingin Delegate was carried by the Association to:

"acknowledge the merits of introducing a single basis of rating for those local governments experiencing rapidly escalating property values and make political representations to the State Government with a view to having the Local Government Act 1995, amended to accommodate the discretionary application of a single basis of rating across land used for rural and non-rural purposes."

#### Advantages:

- A CIV base could be applied equally to all properties, including residential, multi-residential, commercial, industrial and vacant properties.
- The CIV is derived from the income that could be raised if the property were offered for sale and therefore has some relation to the ability of the ratepayer to pay.
- Using the CIV as the basis for property valuations could be easier for ratepayers to understand and evaluate.
- Under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992, the rebate or deferment
  that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), could
  still be applied to this method of rating.

#### • Disadvantages:

- It could be considerably difficult to calculate the CIV for rural properties, commercial properties, industrial properties, or for properties in areas with high rentals and/or few sales.
- Evidence from the Eastern States suggests that property valuations based on CIVs result in a higher level of disputes and objections.
- Managing a CIV base would require a comprehensive data set with accurate building area data. As such, this system of valuing properties would be considerably more expensive to implement and administer than the current system, a cost which would likely be passed on to ratepayers.
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a portion of the rate burden would likely be distributed to other ratepayers, (ie: while some ratepayers would be charged less, other ratepayers would be charged proportionately more).
- Scope to apply this system of rating does not exist within current Western Australian legislation and it would be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can be a protracted.

As an alternative method of rating, using the CIV as the basis for property valuations does offer potential for change. However, it is questionable whether this method would produce significantly fairer or more equitable results than the current method used in Western Australian. Moreover, the high cost of implementing and administering this method of rating may offset any tangible benefits to ratepayers.

#### 5.8 Phasing-in Property Valuations:

The 'phasing-in' of property valuations can lessen the impact of significant increases in Rates Charges. Under Section 6.31 of the Local Government Act 1995, local governments in Western Australia have the ability to phase-in property valuations over a 3-year period where, in the opinion of the local government, the valuation increase would have an adverse impact on the Rates Charges levied. In the first year of a new valuation assessment, the ratepayer would pay the former valuation plus ½ of the difference between the former valuation and the new valuation. In the second year, the ratepayer would pay the former valuation plus ¾ of the difference, and in the third year, the new valuation would be applied.

It is not necessary to phase-in property valuations in years where triennial revaluations have resulted in a smooth increase (or decrease) across a local government. However, should property values in a particular area increase significantly more than other areas, the phase-in option can allow for less dramatic increases in the Rates Charges for those properties. The phase-in option therefore can be advantageous to those ratepayers whose property re-valuations have increased at a higher-than-average rate. However, it should be noted that the phasing-in of property valuations will have the effect of redistributing the rate burden to those ratepayers whose property values have not increased so dramatically.

This method of rating has been utilised in the past by several metropolitan local governments in Western Australia. However, it is understood from the Department of Local Government and Regional Development, that no local governments in Western Australia currently utilise the option of phased valuations.

#### Advantages:

- The impact of significant increases in Rates Charges would be lessened for those ratepayers who own properties in areas that have greatly increased in value in the 3 year period since the last valuation.
- Under the Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992, the rebate or deferment
  that is currently available for Seniors and Pensioners, (who hold a concession card), could
  still be applied to this method of rating.
- Phasing-in property valuations continues to utilise the current system of property valuations based on the GRV. The GRV is derived from the income that could be raised if the property were offered for lease and therefore has some relation to the ability of the ratepayer to pay.
- Scope already exists for phased-valuations within current Western Australian legislation and
  it would not be necessary for the Shire to seek a legislative amendment, a process which can
  be protracted.

#### Disadvantages:

- Instead of Rates Charges increasing by a larger amount in the first year and then remaining constant for 2 years, increases would be distributed over a 3 year period for those ratepayers who own properties in areas that have greatly increased in value in the 3 year period since the last valuation. Hence, these ratepayers would experience an increase in Rates Charges each year, instead of an increase in the first year, followed by relatively stable number in the following two years.
- In order to generate the income required to be raised from Rates Charges, a significant portion of the rate burden would be distributed to other ratepayers during the phase-in period, (ie: properties with decreasing Rates Charges would have this decrease phased-in over the 3 year period (instead of being applied immediately) in proportion to the phasing-in of the increasing Rates Charges).

Although this method of rating is allowable under current Western Australian legislation, its merits are debateable. Phasing-in property valuations does lessen the impact of significant increases in Rates Charges for some ratepayers. However, it is arguably less fair and equitable for those ratepayers who are required to bear a rate impost which, if the phasing-in option weren't invoked, rightly belongs to those ratepayers whose property values have increased to a greater extent.

#### 6.0 Conclusion:

The role of local government in Western Australia has significantly expanded in recent decades. In addition to traditional roles in planning and infrastructure, local governments have assumed increasing responsibility for the provision of social and community services. Many local governments are now involved in services relating to transport, health, alcohol, drug abuse, children, youths, aged care, safety, law enforcement, sport, recreation, art, culture, heritage, wildlife conservation and environmental management. Ultimately, local government rating is an essential level of taxation that provides local governments with the necessary income to fund programs and services in line with community expectations. This report has examined various systems of rating used around Australia, all of which strive to distribute this revenue requirement between ratepayers as fairly and as equitably as possible.

Nationally and internationally, numerous studies, reports and enquiries have been undertaken to determine an ideal system of rating, however, results have been widely divergent, and often contradictory. The Keall Report and the Land ValueTaxation Campaign for example, have both advocated the use of the GRV. The UV has been recommended by the New South Wales Committee of Enquiry into Land Tenures, the Brisbane Shire Council Committee of Enquiry into Valuation and Rating, and in studies by Tideman, Anderson, Lafayette and Putland. Use of the CIV has been recommended by the McCusker Report, the Victorian Office of Local Government and the New Zealand Local Government Rates Enquiry Panel. Others, including Murdoch University eLaw and the Rates Working Group have suggested a form of two-component rating. Numerous alternatives, including a flat-rate charge and various phase-in and rate-capping models have also been suggested.

It is apparent therefore, that there is little consensus amongst policy-makers on the most acceptable theoretical approach to local government rating. Nevertheless, there are several objectives that are common to all. Ideally, a rating system should be:

- effective and simple to administer;
- easy to understand and explain;
- transparent; and
- fair and equitable.

Arguably the most important aspect of local government rating is the extent to which the system is fair and equitable. From the research conducted however, it is apparent that philosophical notions of 'fairness' and 'equity' can often be difficult to realise and are frequently influenced by contradictory moral, ethical and political beliefs. It is not surprising therefore, that this review of the various studies, reports and enquiries into local government rating reveal such opposing views.

The purpose of this report has been to explore alternative methods of local government rating to determine the most fair and equitable system. In concluding however, it is clear that no method of rating is without criticism.

The preceding research is provided to Council, so that the current method of rating used by the Shire of Kalamunda may be critically considered and compared with methods used elsewhere in Australia.

#### 7.0 References

- VALUER GENERAL'S Guide to RATING AND TAXING VALUES Published April 2008 http://www.landgate.wa.gov.au/docvault.nsf/web/INF\_LG\_Rating\_and\_Taxing\_Values\_200 804/\$FILE/INF\_LG\_Rating\_and\_Taxing\_Values\_200804.pdf
- Anderson, P 1996, Victoria's Municipal Rating System, Australian Institute of Urban Studies (Victoria Division), Melbourne, retrieved from http://www.prosper.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2007/11/aius-report.pdf.
- Chalk, G (Committee Chairman), Day, P D, Hancock, R L, Hoffman, G T, Jensen, R C, Kroll, G E, Macpherson, N, & Tucker, J D 1989, Brisbane Committee of Inquiry into Valuation and Rating: A Summary of the Committee's Two-Volume Report on its Deliberations and Findings, Brisbane Shire Council, retrieved from Land Value Taxation Campaign <a href="http://www.landvaluetax.org/document-archive/view-category.html">http://www.landvaluetax.org/document-archive/view-category.html</a>.
- Shire of Kalamunda Rates Working Group 2000, Report on Findings, (unpublished), Shire of Kalamunda, Perth.
- Keall, G (Committee Chairman), Strickland, G, Carroll, R F, Manea, E C & Ewing, J R 1975,
   Committee of Inquiry into Rates and Taxes attached to Land Valuation: Report, Western Australian Government, (unpublished), Joondalup Library, Perth.
- Lafayette, L 2006, The Elected Representatives Guide to Site Revenue for Public Finance, ProsperAustralia, retrieved from http://grputland.com/working/edkit.html.
- Land Value Taxation Campaign (nd), Land Rent for Public Revenue, Sussex, retrieved from http://www.landvaluetax.org/.
- McCusker, J A (Committee Chairman), Kerr, A M, MacKenzie, R B, Manea, E C & Wilkins, I A 1981, Committee of Inquiry into Rates, Taxes and Charges Related to Land Values: Report, Western Australian Government, (unpublished), Joondalup Library, Perth New South Wales Committee of Enquiry into Land Tenures 1973 (see Anderson 1996).
- Office of Local Government (Victoria) 1993, Rates: Proposals to Improve Victoria's Municipal Rating System 1993 (see Anderson 1996, Lafayette 2006 & Putland 2008)
- Putland, G R 2008, The Superiority of Site-Value Rating: How to Implement it with No Losers, Working Paper No. 5, Prosper Australia, retrieved from <a href="http://grputland.com/working/paper05.htm#n10">http://grputland.com/working/paper05.htm#n10</a>.
- Shand, D (Panel Chairman), Horsley, G & Cheyne, C 2007, Funding Local Government: Report
  of the Local Government Rates Enquiry Panel, New Zealand Government, Wellington,
  retrieved from http://www.ratesinquiry.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/wpg\_URL/AgencyIndependent-Inquiry-into-Local-Government-Rates-Rates-Inquiry-Reports?OpenDocument.
- Taxation Policy Elective Class 1994, 'Review of Western Australian State Taxes, Chapter 8: Review of Local Government Taxation', Murdoch University Electronic Journal of Law, Vol. 1, No. 4, retrieved from https://www.murdoch.edu.au/elaw/issues/v1n4/94chap8.txt.
- Tideman, T N 1982, 'A Tax on Land is Neutral', National Tax Journal, Vol. 35, No.1, pp.109-111, retrieved from EBSCO Host database.

#### 7.1 WA Legislation Referred to in this Report:

- · Building Regulations 1989
- · Health Act 1911
- · Local Government Act 1995
- · Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1960
- · Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
- · Rates and Charges (Rebates and Deferments) Act 1992
- · Valuation of Land Act 1978
- · Valuation of Land Regulations 1979

Declaration of financial/conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

#### **CONFIDENTIAL ITEM**

Reason for Confidentiality: In accordance with Section 5.23(2) (c) of the *Local Government Act 1995*, which permits the meeting to be closed to the public for business relating to a matter that if disclosed would reveal: "A contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government and which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting."

# 5.2 Zig Zag Cultural Centre – Proposal for Chamber of Commerce to Lease Office Space

Previous Items OCM 122/2011

Responsible Officer Chief Executive Officer Service Area Community Development

File Reference CO-INF-017

Applicant N/A Owner N/A

Report provided under separate cover.

Declaration of financial/conflict of interests to be recorded prior to dealing with each item.

#### **CONFIDENTIAL ITEM**

Reason for Confidentiality: In accordance with Section 5.23(2) (c) of the *Local Government Act 1995*, which permits the meeting to be closed to the public for business relating to a matter that if disclosed would reveal: "A contract entered into, or which may be entered into, by the local government and which relates to a matter to be discussed at the meeting."

5.3 Deed of Agreement (Lot 9001 Kalamunda Road)

Report provided under separate cover.

#### 6.0 CLOSURE